
VALLEY CENTER MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Monday, July 21, 2025 — 2:00 P.M. 
 

The VCMWD Board of Directors welcomes the public to attend its meetings both in-person 
at its Board Room and virtually via livestream. Please note that in the event of technical 
issues that disrupt the meeting livestream or receipt of public comments by phone or 
email, the meeting will continue, unless otherwise required by law, such as when a Director 
is attending the meeting virtually pursuant to certain provisions of the Brown Act. 
 
 

Instructions for members of the public who wish to address the Board of Directors:   
 
Members of the public can address the Board of Directors during “Public Comments” or on specific 
agenda items, may do so as instructed below.  All comments will be subject to a limit of three (3) minutes. 
 

• Making Public Comment for In-Person Attendance: Members of the public who wish to observe or to 
address the Board may join the Board Members at the noticed, physical location. A Request to Speak 
slip must be submitted to the Board Secretary prior to start of the meeting (if possible). 

• Phone Comments During the Meeting: Before the meeting, or before public comment period for 
the item closes during the meeting, submit a telephone number by email to the Board Secretary at 
publiccomments@vcmwd.org, together with the agenda item number, and the Board Secretary will 
call when the board is ready to hear public comments; or 

• Emailed Comments: Before the meeting, or before public comment period for that item closes at the 
meeting, email your comments to the Board Secretary at publiccomments@vcmwd.org and they will 
be read aloud during the public comment period; or 

• Written Comments: Written comments can be also be physically dropped off or mailed in advance of 
the meeting at the District’s Administrative located at 29300 Valley Center Rd., Valley Center, CA 
92082, for receipt no later than 1:00 pm on meeting day. 

 

These public comment procedures supersede any District public comment policies and procedures to 
the contrary. If modifications or accommodations from individuals with disabilities are required, such 
persons should provide a request at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting by email to the Board 
Secretary at boardsecretary@vcmwd.org. 
 

Meeting Broadcast: Members of the public may watch the meeting electronically by visiting the 
District’s website at vcmwd.org/Board/Board-Documents and then clicking the 
link listed below “live stream” on the page.   

Meeting Documents: Board Meeting Packets (except for closed session materials) will be made 
available to the public once distributed to the Board. Please visit the District’s 
website at vcmwd.org/Board/Board-Documents for Agenda and related Board 
Meeting Documents.  

 

ROLL CALL 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 

At its option, the Board may approve the agenda, delete an item, reorder items and add an item to the agenda 
(Government Code Section 54954.2). 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

Comments and inquiries from the audience will be received on any matter not on the agenda, but within 
the jurisdiction of the Board. Comments and inquiries pertaining to an item on the agenda will be received 
during the deliberation of the agenda item (Government Code Section 54954.3). 

mailto:publiccomments@vcmwd.org
mailto:publiccomments@vcmwd.org
mailto:boardsecretary@vcmwd.org
http://vcmwd.org/Board/Board-Documents
http://vcmwd.org/Board/Board-Documents


Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Agenda 

 

  2     July 21, 2025 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 
 
Consent calendar items will be voted on together by a single motion unless separate action is 
requested by a Board member, staff or member of the audience. 
 
1. Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting Held Monday, July 7, 2025;  

2. Audit Demands and Wire Disbursements; and 

3. Quarterly Expense Reimbursement Disclosures (April 1 – June 30, 2025) per Government 
Code Section 53065. 

 
ACTION ITEM(S) 
 

4. Request to Set the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Fixed Charge Special Assessments for Unpaid 
Charges for Water and Other Services: 
 

Adoption of Ordinance No. 2025-07 to set the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Fixed Charge Special 
Assessments for unpaid charges for water and other services will be considered. 
 

a. Report by Director of Finance and Administration 

b. Discussion 

c. Audience comments/questions 

d. If desired, motion to approve or deny Ordinance No. 2025-07 

 
5. Project Update and Request to Approve of Change Order No. 5 to the Construction Contract 

with Orion Construction Corporation for the North County Emergency Storage Project – 
Valley Center Improvements & 14-inch Replacement and Relocation (NCESP–VC): 
 

An update on the NCESP–VC Improvements Project will be provided, along with request to adopt 
Resolution No. 2025-21, approving Change Oder No. 5 to the Construction Contract with Orion 
Construction, Inc. for the North County Emergency Storage Project – Valley Center Improvements 
& 14-inch Replacement and Relocation [Project No. 01-00-00-18045]. 

 

a. Report by District Engineer 
b. Discussion 
c. Audience comments/questions 
d. If desired, motion to approve or deny Resolution No. 2025-21 

 
6. Request to Award Sole Source Reservoir Coating for Reidy Canyon No. 1 Exterior and W. 

Bear Ridge Roof Project: 
 

A request to adopt Resolution No. 2025-22, awarding sole source reservoir coating for Reidy 
Canyon No. 1 exterior and W. Bear Ridge roof Project [Project No. 01-06-78-51401]. 

 

a. Report by District Engineer 
b. Discussion 
c. Audience comments/questions 
d. If desired, motion to approve or deny Resolution No. 2025-22 

 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Agenda 

 

  3     July 21, 2025 

INFORMATION / POSSIBLE ACTION ITEM(S) 
 

7. Status Update on the Woods Valley Ranch Water Reclamation Facility Wastewater 
Capacity Transfer Agreement: 

 

A status update on the Woods Valley Ranch Water Reclamation Facility Wastewater Capacity 
Transfer Agreement will be provided. 

 

a. Report by District Engineer 
b. Discussion 
c. Audience comments/questions 
d. Information item only, no action required 

 

8. Update to the Long-Range Financial Strategy: 
 

A review of updates to the Long-Range Financial Strategy will be provided. 
 

a. Report by General Manager 
b. Discussion 
c. Audience comments/questions 
d. Information item only, no action required 

 
9. General Information: 
 

General Information items will be reviewed. 
 

a. Report by General Manager 
b. Discussion 
c. Audience comments/questions 
d. Information item only, no action required 

 
DISTRICT GENERAL COUNSEL’S REPORT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ AB1234 REPORTING* 
 

* Directors must provide brief reports on meetings/events attended in the performance of their official duties 
for which compensation or reimbursement is provided.   Authority: Government Code Section 53232.3. 

 
CLOSED SESSION ITEM(S) 
 

At any time during the regular session, the Board may adjourn to closed session to consider litigation, 
personnel matters, or to discuss with legal counsel matters within the attorney-client privilege. Discussion 
of litigation is within the attorney-client privilege and may be held in closed session (per Government 
Code § 54956.9). 
 
10. A Closed Session will be held pursuant to the following two (2) items: 

 

• Government Code §54957 − Public Employee Appointment: 

Title:              General Manager 
 

• Government Code §54957.6 − Conference with Labor Negotiators: 

Agency Designated Representatives:  Board of Directors 
Unrepresented Employee:    General Manager 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Agenda 

 

  4     July 21, 2025 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 
 

 

 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

This agenda was posted at least 72 hours before the meeting in a location freely accessible to the 
public. No action may be taken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, except as provided 
by Government Code Section 54954.2. Any written materials provided to a majority of the Board of 
Directors within 72 hours prior to the meeting regarding any item on this agenda will be available for 
public inspection on the District’s website. The agenda is available for public review on the District’s 
website, http://www.vcmwd.org.  
 

For questions or request for information related to this agenda contact Kirsten Peraino, Board 
Secretary, at (760) 735-4517 or publiccomments@vcmwd.org. Upon request, this agenda will be 
made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with disabilities, as required by Section 
202 of the American with Disabilities Act of 1990. Any person with a disability who requires a 
modification or accommodation in order to participate in a meeting should direct such request to the 
Board Secretary at least 48 hours before the meeting, if possible. 
 

 

 

— End of Agenda — 

http://www.vcmwd.org/
mailto:publiccomments@vcmwd.org


 

VALLEY CENTER MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

MINUTES 
Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Monday, July 7, 2025 — 2:00 P.M. 

  
The Valley Center Municipal Water District Board of Directors’ meeting was called to order 
by President Ferro at 2:00 PM. In the Board Room at 29300 Valley Center Rd.; Valley Center, 
CA 92082, and livestreamed on the District’s website at www.vcmwd.org.  

 
ROLL CALL 
 

Board Members Present: Directors Ferro, Holtz, Smith, Ness, and Stehly. 
 

Board Members Absent: None. 
 

Staff Members Present: General Manager Arant, District Engineer Grabbe, Director of Finance and 
Administration Pugh, Director of I.T. Pilve, Director of Operations and Facilities Lovelady, Special 
Projects & Regulatory Compliance Manager Nichols, Manager of Accounting/Deputy Director of 
Finance & Administration Velasquez; Senior I.T. Specialist Day, Executive Assistant/Board Secretary 
Peraino, and General Counsel Paula de Sousa present in-person. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT(S) 
 

President Ferro established for the record the process by which public comments are received by 
the Board; this process was also described in the Agenda for the meeting. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 
 

Consent calendar items will be voted on together by a single motion unless separate action is 
requested by a Board member, staff or member of the audience. 
 

1. Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting Held Monday, June 16, 2025; and 

2. Audit Demands for Check Nos. 171771–171867 from June 7–27, 2025; 

3. Treasurer’s Report for Month Ended May 31, 2025;  

4. Auditor’s Communication with Those Charged with Governance (SAS 114) Letter; and 

5. Survey of General Counsel Services Costs. 
 

Action: Upon motion by Smith, seconded by Stehly; and unanimously carried, the previously 
listed consent calendar items were approved. 

 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ITEM(S) 
 

6. Public Hearing to Hearing to Consider Approving Proposed Revisions to Water Meter 
Capacity Fees and Annexation Charges for Fiscal Year 2025-26 and Request Adoption 
of Ordinance No. 2025-06 to Amend the District’s Administrative Code: 

 

A public hearing to consider the proposed increases in Water Meter Capacity (including Specific 
Benefit Area Charges) and Annexation Charges, was opened by President Ferro at 2:05 PM.  

http://www.vcmwd.org/


Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

2   July 7, 2025 

Special Projects and Regulatory Compliance Manager Alisa Nichols reminded the Board that the 
initial review of the proposed updates was presented to the Board at its June 2, 2025 Board 
Meeting and the presentation and minutes are incorporated into the public record. In addition to 
the San Diego County Water Authority Meter Capacity and Annexation Charges (which are set 
independently from the District), the District’s Water Meter Capacity Charges are collected for 
new water meters purchased from the District and a per acre District Annexation Charge is 
collected from properties requesting annexation to the District. 

 

Modifications to the approach since last year include the following: 
 

• Added Value of Capital Improvements completed during the year. 

• Updated Asset Values to reflect the current Replacement Cost New Less Depreciation value. 

• Updated the percentage of the Water System Asset Values related to Usage-Based Revenue 
versus Land-Based Revenue. 

• Updated the Equivalent ¾-inch Meter count to exclude inactive meters. 
 

The last adjustment to Meter Capacity and Annexation Charges was approved in June 2024.  
Staff recommended the following increases, based on estimated water system and non-facility 
asset values as of June 30, 2024: 

 

• 8.7% increase in the base Meter Capacity Charge from $5,705 to $6,203 for a ¾-inch meter. 

• An average 0.56% increase in the Incremental Capacity Charges, which are only added to the 
Meter Capacity Charge if within a Specific Benefit Area and apply to District and Developer projects: 

o High Mountain (0.61% Increase),  

o Wilkes Rd (0.54% increase), and  

o Via Piedra Waterline Extension (no increase). 

• 2.6% decrease in the Annexation Charge, from $1,433 per acre to $1,406 per acre. 
 

Meter Capacity Charges: 
 

The Meter Capacity Charge reflects the costs of providing and maintaining the capacity in the water 
supply and distribution system for the capacity rating of the meter size being purchased. These 
Meter Capacity Charges are developed using a two component Buy-In approach; 1) a base Buy-
In component to District-wide beneficial facilities; and 2) an incremental Buy-In component for 
capital improvement projects benefitting specific portions of the District’s service area.  Revenue 
received from the Meter Capacity Charges can be utilized for the replacement, upgrade, and 
upsizing of the existing water facilities.   
 

Previously, the Equivalent Meter Count included inactive meter accounts which artificially lowered 
the Meter Buy-In amount as revenue is not collected from inactive meter accounts. The calculation 
for ¾-inch equivalent meters continues to use the Maximum Safe Operating Capacity ratio; 
however, inactive meter accounts were removed from the calculation. This adjustment resulted in 
a higher Meter Capacity Charge, bringing the District's charge more in line with the average of 
other agencies and more accurately reflecting the investment of current District customers, stated 
Ms. Nichols. 

 

Incremental Charges: 
 

An Incremental Component to the Water Meter Capacity Charge is added for projects that meet the 
following criteria: 1) Projects constructed by the District that benefit future connections in a specific 
area, or 2) Contributed Capital Projects (Developer Projects with Reimbursement Agreements) that 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

3   July 7, 2025 

benefit future connections in a specific area. In situations where an Incremental Component 
applies, a Specific Benefit Area (SBA) is established and the SBA Capacity Charge is separately 
approved; conceptually during the project approval process, based on estimated project costs 
(with final approval after project is completed, when all costs are known). The SBA Capacity 
Charge is only added to the Meter Capacity Charge for new meters on properties within the SBA.  

 

Annexation Charge: 
 

Annexation Charges are collected from properties requesting annexation to the District. Property 
owners outside of the District have not paid Availability Charges or tax revenues to the District, 
and as such, would need to Buy-In to the value attributed to those revenue sources to be on an 
equal basis as customers within the District. Changes in the methodology for determining the 
ratio of revenue attributable to the Annexation Charge have led to a reduced portion of the Water 
Facility Assets Value included in the Annexation Charge calculation, resulting in a slight decrease 
to the recommended Annexation Charge for FY 2025-26. 
 

Administrative Code Modifications: 
 

• Section 160.4(c) and (e) to implement an increase in Meter Capacity Charges, which includes 
Incremental Charges for Special Benefit Areas; and 

 

• Section 220.2(e) to implement an increase in the Annexation Charge. 
 

Notice regarding the recommended charges was published in the local print publication on June 
19, and June 26.  Ms. Nichols noted that the amendments would be effective August 6, 2025 to 
provide for a 30-day public protest period pursuant to Administrative Code §30.12(a).  The Board 
Secretary noted that no comments were received, and the public hearing was closed at 2:25 PM. 
 

Action: Upon motion by Ness, seconded by Smith; motion to approve the following Ordinance 
was unanimously passed: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-06 
 

ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE VALLEY CENTER 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT AMENDING ADMINISTRATIVE CODE 
ARTICLE 160 INCREASING WATER METER CAPACITY CHARGES 

AND ARTICLE 220 INCREASING THE ANNEXATION CHARGE 
 

Was adopted by the following vote, to wit: 

  AYES: Directors Ferro, Holtz, Smith, Ness, and Stehly 
  NOES: None 
    ABSENT: None 

 
7. Public Hearing to Consider Levying the Approved Woods Valley Ranch Water 

Reclamation Facility Sewer Service Charges (Service Areas 1 and 2) and Grinder Pump 
Maintenance Charges (Service Area 2) on the Property Tax Roll for Fiscal Year 2025-26: 

 

A public hearing to consider levying the approved Woods Valley Ranch (WVR) Water Reclamation 
Facility (WRF) Service Area Sewer Service Charges (Service Areas 1 and 2) and Grinder Pump 
Maintenance Charges (Service Area 2) on the Property Tax Roll for FY 2025-26 was opened by 
President Ferro at 2:26 PM.  
 

District Engineer Grabbe explained that the WVR WRF Service Area is divided into two service 
areas:  Service Areas 1 and 2.  Service Area 1 (established in 2002) encompasses the 270-lot 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

4   July 7, 2025 

WVR Subdivision and Golf Course (allocated a 10 EDU capacity demand), resulting in a total 
capacity demand of 280 EDUs.  Service Area 2 (established in 2013) encompasses the parcels 
participating in the WVR Wastewater Expansion Project, with a total capacity demand of 
1,465.5 EDUs. 
 

Sewer Service Charges provide for the operation, maintenance, and ultimate replacement of 
District-owned & operated collection, treatment & seasonal storage facilities and are levied on 
those properties connected to the wastewater collection system as of June 30, 2025.  The 
Board had previously approved a 5% increase from the prior year, from $1,183.20 per EDU to 
$1,242.80 per EDU. 
 

Grinder Pump Maintenance Charge provides funding for maintenance, emergency call-out & 
repair services, as well as the replacement of the pump unit at the end of its service life.  On-site 
private grinder pumps are required for properties connected to the Low-Pressure Sewer 
Collection System in Service Area 2. As of June 30, 2025, there were 26 units connected (16 
Simplex and 10 Duplex units). The Board had previously approved a 5% increase from the prior 
year, from $611.16 per unit to $642.24 per unit (for Simplex units).  
 

WVR sewer service charges (which include the grinder pump maintenance charge) are levied on 
the property tax roll. The collection of service charges requires a public hearing to consider 
collecting the service charges with the San Diego County property taxes; if there is a majority 
protest, the approved service charges would be collected on the monthly water bill.  Staff 
recommended adoption of Resolution No. 2025-17 levying the sewer service charges (Service 
Areas 1 and 2) and Grinder Pump Maintenance Charges (Service Area 1), on the property tax 
roll for FY 2025-26. Staff noted that charges for any mid-year connections would be collected on 
the monthly water bill until the following fiscal year.   
 

Mr. Grabbe reported that two notices were published in the local paper advertising this public 
hearing. An opportunity was provided for public comment. The Board Secretary noted that no 
comments were received and determined that there was no majority protest. The public hearing 
was closed at 2:33 PM. 
 

Action: Upon motion by Holtz, seconded by Ness; motion to approve the following Resolution 
was unanimously passed: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-17 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
VALLEY CENTER MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
PLACING THE WOODS VALLEY RANCH WATER 

RECLAMATION FACILITY SERVICE AREA ANNUAL SEWER 
SERVICE CHARGE ASSESSMENTS AND ANNUAL 

GRINDER PUMP MAINTENANCE CHARGE ASSESSMENTS 
FOR FY 2025-26 ON PROPERTY WITHIN THE SERVICE AREA 

ON THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SECURED PROPERTY TAX ROLL 
 

Was adopted by the following vote, to wit: 

  AYES: Directors Ferro, Holtz, Smith, Ness, and Stehly 
  NOES: None 
    ABSENT: None 

 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

5   July 7, 2025 

ACTION ITEM(S) 
 

8. Adoption of Resolution No. 2025-18 Levying the Approved Woods Valley Ranch Water 
Reclamation Facility Sewer Standby Fees (Service Areas 1 & 2) on the Property Tax 
Roll for Fiscal Year 2025-26:   

 

Sewer standby fees are levied on parcels in the service area that have a capacity reservation, 
but are not connected to the wastewater collection system as of the close of the fiscal year, stated 
District Engineer Grabbe. These fees provide funding for certain fixed-cost maintenance items, 
operational support, and a replacement reserve contribution. This is necessary to maintain a 
parcel’s commitment until it is developed and connected. Additional Parcels were connected to 
the Collection System in the prior year lowering the Total Sewer Standby Fee Assessments for 
FY 2025-26 but increasing the Sewer Service Charge Revenue.  No adjustments to the existing 
Sewer Standby Fee of $550.32 per Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) were recommended. 
 

• Service Area 1 – Encompasses the 270-lot Woods Valley Ranch Subdivision and Golf Course. 
The Golf Course is allocated a 10 EDU capacity demand, resulting in a total capacity demand 
of 280 EDUs for Service Area 1.  As of June 30, 2025 only one lot remains not connected in 
Service Area 1. 

 

• Service Area 2 – Encompasses parcels participating in the Woods Valley Ranch Wastewater 
Expansion Project located within Assessment District No. 2012-1 (90 connected and 731.5 
not connected) and Community Facilities District No. 2020-1 (610 connected and 34 not 
connected), resulting in a total capacity allocation of 1,465.5 for Service Area 2. As of June 
30, 2025, there were 765.5 EDUs of capacity reservations that remained not connected in 
Service Area 2. 

 

Staff recommended the Board of Directors continue the current Sewer Standby Fee of $550.32 
per EDU for FY 2025-26, and direct that the Sewer Standby Fees be collected by the County of 
San Diego with the property taxes. 
 

Action: Upon motion by Smith, seconded by Stehly; motion to approve the following Resolution 
was unanimously passed: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-18 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE VALLEY CENTER MUNICIPAL 
WATER DISTRICT PLACING THE WOODS VALLEY RANCH WATER RECLAMATION FACILITY 
SERVICE AREA SEWER STANDBY FEE ASSESSMENTS FOR FY 2025-26 ON PROPERTY 

WITHIN THE SERVICE AREA ON THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SECURED PROPERTY TAX ROLL 
 

Was adopted by the following vote, to wit: 

  AYES: Directors Ferro, Holtz, Smith, Ness, and Stehly 
  NOES: None 
    ABSENT: None 

 

9. Adoption of Resolution No. 2025-19 Approving and Levying the Annual Assessments 
for Assessment District No. 2012-1 on the Property Tax Roll for Fiscal Year 2025-26: 

 

Assessment District 2012-1 (“AD 2012-1”) was formed to provide financial security and funding 
for the Woods Valley Ranch Wastewater Expansion Project (“Project”) to accommodate the 
planned development in the North and South Village Areas.  AD 2012-1 was initially formed with 
350 EDUs in 2013 and later increased to 1095 EDUs in 2015.  The annual assessments of AD 
2012-1 are used to fund the debt service repayment of the three California State Water 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

6   July 7, 2025 

Resources Control Board SRF Loans and two Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds used to 
finance the Expansion Project and a portion of the Orchard Run Lift Station (“ORLS”) 
construction, reported District Engineer Grabbe. Annual Assessments started in FY 2016-17 
and were based on the estimated loan amounts for the total $30.735M Project costs.  Annual 
Assessments varied by Benefit Area based on the final Engineers Report dated April 13, 2015, 
prepared by Koppel and Gruber Public Finance. 
 

Since the initial assessments, loan amounts were finalized resulting in excess funds being 
collected, formation of Community Facilities District No. 2020-1 (“CFD 2020-1”) in May 2020 
provided additional capacity and participation for the Project; which generated a reduction in 
the cost per EDU for all participants (beginning in FY 2020-21).  In addition, the annual 
assessment was further reduced by the allocation of $724K of the Phase 2 Project costs for 
the portion of the improvements that were for the replacement and upgrade of existing facilities 
and not required for expanding the capacity of the facility, shifting a portion of the debt service 
responsibility to VCMWD. 
 

The Annual Assessments in the initial years were based on the estimated total $30.735M 
project cost, with the first year's assessment being allocated to a debt service reserve. Once 
the SRF loans were finalized, the total annual debt service was slightly less than anticipated, 
resulting in available excess funds greater than the one-year debt service requirement. The 
one-year debt service reserve would be used to make the final debt service payments and 
annual assessments are adjusted accordingly to incrementally utilize, over the term of the 
loans, the excess debt service reserve funds that were collected in the initial years. 
 

Sources of funds for the annual revenue requirement include the following: 
 

• $ 526,769 CFD 2020-1 share of the current debt; 
• $ 45,149 WVRWRF Replacement Reserves; 
• $ 1,962 Excess Debt Service Reserve; and 
• $ 1,320,783 AD 2012-1 Annual Assessments. 
• $ 1,894,633 Total  

 

The proposed assessments for each benefit area remain the same as the previous year and are 
set based on the cost allocation of the each of the SRF loans and Bond indebtedness in 
accordance with the methods established with the April 2015 AD 2012-1 Engineer's Report.  
Additional funds are available from previous years assessment to make up the slight difference in 
the total expense and total assessment, noted Mr. Grabbe. 
 

Staff recommended adoption of Resolution No. 2025-19, approving the FY 2025-2026 Annual 
Assessment amounts to be collected in the same manner as ordinary ad valorem property taxes 
are collected and subject to the same penalties and the same procedure, sale, and lien priority 
in case of delinquency as is provided for ad valorem taxes for the parcels in AD 2012-1. 
 

Action: Upon motion by Holtz, seconded by Ness; motion to approve the following Resolution 
was unanimously passed: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-19 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE VALLEY CENTER 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT PLACING FIXED CHARGE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2025-26 ON PROPERTY WITHIN ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 2012-1 
ON THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SECURED PROPERTY TAX ROLL 

 

Was adopted by the following vote, to wit: 

  AYES: Directors Ferro, Holtz, Smith, Ness, and Stehly 
  NOES: None 
    ABSENT: None 
 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

7   July 7, 2025 

10. Adoption of Resolution No. 2025-20 Approving and Levying Annual Special Taxes for 
Community Facilities District No. 2020-1 on the Property Tax Roll for Fiscal Year 2025-26: 

 

Community Facilities District No. 2020-1 (“CFD 2020-1”) was established to provide financial 
security and funding for the wastewater capacity improvements needed for the Park Circle East/ 
West project. The improvements included assuming the AD 2012-1 indebtedness for the Park 
Circle Projects’ participation in the Woods Valley Ranch Wastewater Expansion Project, 
construction of the Orchard Run Lift Station, future expansion of the Woods Valley Ranch Water 
Reclamation Facility, and future construction of additional recycled water seasonal storage and 
transmission facilities (per the terms & conditions of the CFD Financing Agreement dated May 
18, 2020).  
 

Staff recommended a Special Tax totaling $909,841, the maximum allowable to be levied pursuant 
to the Rate and Method of Apportionment (“RMA”) for CFD 2020-1, previously prepared by Koppel 
and Gruber Public Finance and approved by the Board of Directors.  The RMA set the maximum 
annual tax rate increase at two percent 2%) for both developed and undeveloped property in each 
zone in the Park Circle East/West project.  As of May 15, 2025, (the cutoff date for determining 
Developed Property and Undeveloped Property as defined in the RMA), 632 parcels and 1.36 
acres of commercial property were developed in CFD 2020-1 and the 2.920-acre commercial 
parcel adjacent to the McDonald’s restaurant was the only remaining undeveloped parcel.  
 

Such Special Taxes levied on and collected from properties in CFD 2020-1 that are not required 
for payment of administrative expenses of the CFD 2020-1, debt service on the AD 2012-01 

Indebtedness and Series 2024 Bond shall be held in a special, discrete fund established by 
VCMWD for the CFD 2020-1 ("Special Fund"): 

 

• $526,905 AD 2012-1 Indebtedness 

• $  30,000 Administrative Expenses 

• $236,140 Series 2024 Bond 

• $116,796 Special Fund/PayGo 

$909,841 Total 
  

Staff recommended approving the FY 2025-26 levy of special taxes to be collected in the same 
manner as ordinary ad valorem property taxes are collected and subject to the same penalties 
and the same procedure, sale, and lien priority in case of delinquency as is provided for ad 
valorem taxes for the parcels in CFD 2020-1. 

 

Action: Upon motion by Stehly, seconded by Holtz; motion to approve the following Resolution 
passed with four (4) affirmative votes: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-20 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE VALLEY CENTER 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT ACTING AS THE LEGISLATIVE BODY OF 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2020-1 (PARK CIRCLE EAST/WEST) 
OF THE VALLEY CENTER MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT LEVYING 
SPECIAL TAXES TO BE COLLECTED FOR FISCAL YEAR 2025-26 

 

Was adopted by the following vote, to wit: 

  AYES: Directors Ferro, Holtz, Ness, and Stehly 
  NOES: None 
    ABSENT: Director Smith 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

8   July 7, 2025 

11. Reconsideration of Exhibit A – State and Federal Representation to the Mutual Services 
Agreement and Request Board Participation in the Mutual Services Ad Hoc Committee: 
 

On June 16, 2025, the Board initially approved Exhibit "A" of the Mutual Services Agreement for 
State and Federal Representation among Fallbrook PUD, Rainbow MWD, Yuima MWD, and 
VCMWD. However, subsequent developments require the Board's reconsideration. Here's 
what's changed: 
 

Exhibit Renaming: It was noted that Exhibit "A" had been previously used by Fallbrook and 
Rainbow for an intertie agreement dated April 30, 2025, which VCMWD staff were not aware of 
at the time of the June 16, 2025, approval. Consequently, the relevant exhibit for the State and 
Federal Representation Agreement was re-designated as Exhibit "B." 
 

Changes to Participation Levels: Yuima MWD modified its annual participation level from $75,000 
to $30,000. This adjustment increased the annual participation level for the other three agencies 
(Fallbrook PUD, Rainbow MWD, and VCMWD) from $75,000 to $90,000 each. Even with this 
increase, the participation cost for VCMWD remained within its anticipated FY 2025-26 budget 
of $100,000. Staff's recommendation for participation in the Agreement for State and Federal 
Representation was reaffirmed. 
 

Ad Hoc Committee: The Board requested participation in an Ad Hoc Committee, composed of 
participating Board Members, to provide input and guidance on future functional areas to be 
evaluated and implemented under the Agreement. President Ferro volunteered to participate in 
this committee. 
 

Action: Upon motion by Smith, seconded by Ness; motion to confirm participation in the State 
and Federal Representation with approval of Exhibit “B”; was unanimously carried. 

 
INFORMATION ITEM / POSSIBLE ACTION ITEM(S) 

 
12. San Diego County Water Authority (SDCWA) Board Meeting Summary: 

 

A report on the SDCWA’s Board of Directors’ Meeting of June 26, 2025 was provided. 
 

Action:  Informational item only, no action required. 

 
13. General Information:  

 

Action:  Informational item only, no action required. 

 
DISTRICT GENERAL COUNSEL’S ITEM(S) 
 

None. 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ AB1234 REPORTS ON MEETINGS ATTENDED 
 

None. 

 
 



Valley Center Municipal Water District 
Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes 

 

9   July 7, 2025 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Action:  Upon motion by Smith, seconded by Ness; motion passed unanimously, the regular 
meeting of the Board of Directors was adjourned at 3:19 PM. 

 
ATTEST:       ATTEST: 

 
 

 

 

____________________________    _____________________________ 

Kirsten N. Peraino, Secretary       Enrico P. Ferro, President 





























































































































































































  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
July 1, 2025 
 
The Honorable Lola Smallwood-Cuevas, Chair 
Senate Labor, Public Employment, and Retirement Committee  
1021 O Street, Suite 6530 
Sacramento, CA  95814 
 
 



AB 339 (Ortega)- Oppose 
Page 2 

Re: AB 339 (Ortega): Local public employee organizations: notice requirements 
 As amended 6/18/25 – OPPOSE  

Awaiting hearing – Senate Labor, Public Employment, and Retirement  
Committee  

 
Dear Senator Smallwood-Cuevas: 
 
On behalf of the Urban Counties of California (UCC), California State Association of Counties 
(CSAC), Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC), Association of California Healthcare 
Districts (ACHD), California Special Districts Association (CSDA), League of California Cities 
(CalCities), Public Risk Innovation, Solutions, and Management (PRISM), Association of California 
Water Agencies (ACWA), County Health Executives Association of California (CHEAC), California 
State Sheriffs’ Association (CSSA), Contra Costa County, Fresno County, Lake County, Los Angeles 
County, Merced County, Placer County , Riverside County, Sacramento County, San Joaquin 
County, San Mateo County, Santa Clara County, San Bernardino County, Ventura County, South San 
Joaquin Irrigation District, American Council of Engineering Companies of California, California 
Geotechnical Engineering Association (CalGeo), the American Institute of Architects California, 
Transportation California, California Building Officials (CALBO), California Association of 
Recreation and Park Districts (CARPD), California Transit Association, California Association of 
Sanitation Agencies (CASA), the California and Nevada Civil Engineers and Land Surveyors 
Association (CELSA), Helix Water District, the California Association of Public Hospitals and Health 
Systems (CAPH), California Animal Welfare Association (CalAnimals), Bay Area Air District, 
California-Nevada Section, American Water Works Association (CA-NV AWWA), the Jurupa 
Community Services District, the American Public Works Association – California Chapters, the 
California Park and Recreation Society (CPRS), Contra Costa Water District, and the American 
Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE)-Region 9, we write in respectful opposition to Assembly Bill 339, 
as recently amended. This measure would require the governing body of a local public agency (non-
school) to provide written notice to the employee organization no less than 60 days prior to issuing 
any request for proposals, request for quotes, or renewing or extending an existing contract to 
perform services that are within the scope of work of the job classifications represented by the 
recognized employee organization, and to engage in potentially extensive and lengthy negotiations 
regarding each of those actions upon request. AB 339 would be impractical in its execution, is 
unworkable for ensuring provision of public services, and undermines local labor negotiations.  
 
AB 339 applies to any contract that is within the scope of work of any job classification represented 
by a recognized employee organization; for local agencies with represented workforces, this 
essentially means nearly every contract would be subject to notice and possible meet and confer. 
This provision is considerably broader than the existing requirement for bargaining under the 
Meyers-Milias Brown Act (MMBA); under existing law, where contracting out is legally permissible, 
local agencies are still required to “meet and confer in good faith” with any affected bargaining unit 
prior to making any decision that is within the scope of representation. (Gov. Code, §§ 3505.) 
However, existing law incorporates several common-sense limitations upon the requirement to 
meet and confer – including where there is a longstanding past practice of contracting for particular 
services, or where contracting out is contemplated in the applicable MOU. AB 339 subverts these 
well-settled principles to the detriment of local public services.  
 
It is important to note that an administrative remedy is already available to recognized employee 
organizations when they believe that a local agency has neglected to meet existing notification and 



AB 339 (Ortega)- Oppose 
Page 3 

meet and confer requirements regarding contracting. Failure to adhere to existing requirements 
under the MMBA and related case law subjects a local agency to a potential unfair labor practice 
charge at the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB).  
 
The lack of definition of emergency or exigent circumstances in AB 339 undermines existing 
emergency contracting authority; further, this provision only applies to the initial notice 
requirement – not the meet and confer provisions – making the provision nearly meaningless in an 
emergency circumstance. You are undoubtedly aware of the considerable responsibility assumed 
by local agencies in a natural disaster, public health emergency, or other local crisis. As first 
responders, local agencies rely on existing statutes that allow for considerable flexibility to ensure 
the safety and well-being of our communities. 
 
In addition, AB 339 will significantly delay public works projects and could grind building permit 
processing, design, and construction of needed housing or infrastructure projects to a halt.  Public 
works projects involve multiple phases of design, which require a diverse array of services – 
including site assessments, geotechnical services, land surveys, plan check, and traffic studies, to 
name just a few – that cannot be fully known until earlier phases have completed, making it 
impossible for agencies to complete all of AB 339's notification pauses at the outset of a 
project.  These notices would therefore be compounded, causing projects to be delayed by 
multiples of the 60-day pause before a shovel ever touches the ground.  Since the bill applies to any 
services within any recognized employee organization's scope, this will include instances in which 
none of an agency's employees currently, or ever, have performed those services.  The vast majority 
of agencies lack the resources and expertise to have 100 percent of their design needs performed 
by its own engineers, planners, and other design professionals on staff.  Should one of these 
agencies need to transfer responsibility for conducting vital design services – plan checking an 
application for a housing development permit, for example – they could be left without qualified 
staff to perform those essential functions for at least 60 days. 
 
The bill also deters local agencies from working in partnership with local community organizations, 
who are at the front lines of providing critical local services, and who are already under scrutiny by 
the federal government, adding considerable uncertainty to their ongoing financial viability. 
 
Finally, sponsors continue to assert that documents associated with a Request for Proposals (RFP), 
Request for Quotes (RFQ), contract extensions, and contract renewals are not disclosed to the 
public. In truth, RFPs and RFQs are typically public by nature and subject to competitive bidding 
processes and regulations, while contracts are almost always disclosable public records under the 
Public Records Act. We dispute that local agencies are inappropriately withholding public 
records and further disagree that local agencies are failing to comply with existing notification 
requirements under the MMBA. If either were true, there are already existing remedies for 
sponsors to address these issues. 
 
Like previous unsuccessful proposals that have sought to undermine local agencies’ ability to 
contract for public services, AB 339 represents a sweeping change to the fundamental work of local 
governments, but we remain unaware of a specific, current, and widespread problem that this 
measure would resolve or prevent. We are keenly aware, though, of the very real harm that could 
result from this measure. AB 339 will not improve services, reduce costs, or protect employees. As 
a result, we are opposed. Should you have any questions about our position, please reach out 
directly. 



AB 339 (Ortega)- Oppose 
Page 4 

 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
 
Jean Kinney Hurst 
Legislative Advocate  
Urban Counties of California 

 
 
 
Eric Lawyer 
Legislative Advocate 
California State Association of Counties 

 
 
 
 

Sarah Dukett 
Policy Advocate 
Rural County Representatives of California 

 
 
 
 

Sarah Bridge 
Legislative Advocate 
Association of California Healthcare Districts 

 
 
 
Aaron Avery 
Director of State Legislative Affairs 
California Special Districts Association 

 
 
 
 
Johnnie Pina 
Legislative Affairs, Lobbyist 
League of California Cities 

 
 
 
 
Jason Schmelzer 
Legislative Advocate 
Public Risk Innovation, Solutions, and 

Management 

 
 
 
 

Julia Bishop Hall 
Director of State Legislative Relations 
Association of California Water Agencies 

 
 
 
 
Farrah McDaid Ting 
Deputy Director of Policy 
County Health Executives Association of 

California 

  
 
 
 
 

Cory M. Salzillo 
Legislative Director 
California State Sheriffs’ Association 

 

 
Candace Andersen 
Chair, Contra Costa County Board of 

Supervisors 

 
 
 

Susan Parker 
County Administrative Officer 
County of Lake 

  



AB 339 (Ortega)- Oppose 
Page 5 

 
Joshua Pedrozo 
Chairman  
Merced County Board of Supervisors  

 

 
 
Bonnie Gore 
Chair (District 1) 
Placer County Board of Supervisors 

 
Supervisor V. Manuel Perez, Chair 
Riverside County Board of Supervisors 

 
 
Elisia De Bord 
Governmental Relations and Legislative Officer 
County of Sacramento 

 
 
Paul Canepa 
Chair 
San Joaquin County Board of Supervisors 
 

 
 
Connie Juárez-Diroll 
Chief Legislative Officer 
County of San Mateo  

  
 
 
 
Erin Evans-Fudem 
Legislative Deputy County Counsel 
Office of the County Counsel 
County of Santa Clara 
 

 
 
Eric P. Angstadt 
CELSA  
Executive Secretary       

 
Peter M. Rietkerk 
General Manager 
South San Joaquin Irrigation District 

 
 
 
Tyler Munzing  
Director of Government Affairs 
American Council of Engineering Companies of 

California 

 
Noah Smith, PE, GE  
President 
California Geotechnical Engineering 

Association 

 
 
 
 
 

Scott Terrell 
Director of Government Relations 
The American Institute of Architects California 

 
 
 

 
 
 



AB 339 (Ortega)- Oppose 
Page 6 

 
 
 
Mark Watts 
Legislative Advocate 
Transportation California 

 
 
 
 
Matthew Wheeler, DPPD 
Executive Director  
California Building Officials (CALBO)  

 
 
Buddy Mendes, Chairman 
Fresno County Board of Supervisors 
 

 
 
Dane Hutchings 
Legislative Representative 
California Association of Recreation and 

Park Districts 
 
 
Michael Pimentel 
Executive Director 
California Transit Association 
 

 
 
 
Dawn Rowe 
Chairman 
County of San Bernardino 

 
 
Jessica Gauger 
Director of Legislative Advocacy & Public 

Affairs 
California Association of Sanitation 

Agencies 
 

 
 
 
 Sue Mosburg 
Executive Director  
American Water Works Association, 

California-Nevada Section   

 
 
Brian Olney 
General Manager 
Helix Water District 
 

 
 
 
Chris Berch, P.E. 
General Manager 
Jurupa Community Services District 

 
Karen Lange 
Legislative Advocate 
California Animal Welfare Association 
 

 
 
 

Katie Rodriguez  
Vice President of Policy and Government 

Relations   
California Association of Public Hospitals 

and Health Systems (CAPH) 
 



AB 339 (Ortega)- Oppose 
Page 7 

 
 
 
Philip M. Fine, Ph.D. 
Executive Officer/APCO 
Bay Area Air District 

 
 
 
Joubin Pakpour 
Director 
American Public Works Association — 

California Chapters 
 

 
Elizabeth Espinosa 
Legislative Advocate 
County of Ventura 

 
 
 
 
 

Stephanie Stephens 
Exeuctive Director  
California Park and Recreation Society  

 

 
Ernesto A. Avila 
Board President 
Contra Costa Water District 

 

 
Yazdan Emrani 
Region 9 Director 
American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE-

Region 9 
 

 
Marvin J. Deon II 
Chief Legislative Representative 
County of Los Angeles 

 

 
cc: Members and Consultants, Senate Labor, Public Employment and Retirement Committee 
 The Honorable Liz Ortega, California State Assembly 
 

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 3 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
July 11, 2025 
 
The Honorable Buffy Wicks 
Chair, Assembly Appropriations    
1021 O Street, Suite 8220       
Sacramento, CA 95814        
 
RE:  SB 72 (Caballero) The California Water Plan: long term supply targets – SUPPORT 
 
Dear Chair Wicks,  
 
The California Municipal Utilities Association (CMUA), California State Association of Counties (CSAC), 
and California Council for Environmental and Economic Balance (CCEEB) are very proud co-sponsors of 
SB 72 (Caballero). We, along with the coalition of organizations above, are pleased to support SB 72. 



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 4 

California is in a race against climate change, which is pressured by multi-year droughts, floods, fires, and 
other intensifying climate change impacts. Consequently, there is an urgent need for California to 
develop aspirational targets that will complement and amplify Governor Newsom’s Water Supply 
Strategy and extend beyond any single Administration. Given the extreme climate impacts of the 21st 
century, an expanding economy, a growing population, the anticipated reductions from existing water 
resources, and the controls on the use of groundwater, California needs to align the state’s water supply 
strategy and policies with a target that will result in an adequate and reliable water supply for all 
beneficial uses including the environment, agriculture, the economy, and all Californians. Recent 
research estimates a shortfall in California’s future water supply between 4.6 and 9 million acre-feet 
annually by 2050 if the state takes no action.  

SB 72 is the mechanism that will help California keep up with the impacts of climate change on our water 
supply. SB 72 directs the Department of Water Resources (DWR) to modernize the California Water Plan 
and develop a target for water supply to achieve in 2040 and beyond. The fiscal impacts of this bill are 
minor compared to the agricultural and business loss costs of the State for not passing this legislation.  A 
new UC study titled “Inaction’s Economic Cost for California’s Water Supply Challenges” (released May 
2025) estimates that without better management, California faces up to $14.5 billion a year in economic 
loss and 67,000 jobs lost annually. Inaction isn’t just an environmental risk – it threatens California’s job 
market and economic wellbeing.  
 
SB 72 will establish excellent policy because it will bring about the fundamental changes that are 
necessary to ensure a sustainable water future. SB 72 will do the following:  
 

• Transform water management in California taking us from a perpetual state of supply 
vulnerability to a reliable and sufficient water supply that is adequate for all beneficial uses, 
including urban, agriculture, and the environment.  

• Create a new “North Star” water supply planning target for 2040 that the state will need to work 
toward, along with a process to develop a target for 2050.  

• Preserve the California way of life, supplying water to our homes and communities, habitat and 
environment, recreation and tourism, and business and economic success.  

• Support economic vitality for all businesses, from restaurants to technology companies, and 
employers that depend on a reliable water supply.  

• Fulfill the generational responsibility to develop a water system that will adapt to changes in the 
environment and allow the state to thrive now and for future generations.  

 
The California Water Plan is the strategic plan for managing and developing water resources for current 
and future generations in the state. SB 72 works within the structure of the current California Water 
Plan, which hasn’t been meaningfully updated for decades. SB 72 updates the California Water Plan for a 
21st century climate. The costs to implement SB 72 should not be a barrier to passing a monumentally 
important piece of legislation for the future of California.  

 

 



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 5 

For these reasons, we urge your support for SB 72. If you have any questions about our position, please 
contact Andrea Abergel with CMUA at aabergel@cmua.org or (916) 841-4060.  

Sincerely, 

Andrea Abergel 
Director of Water 
California Municipal Utilities Association 
 
Graham Knaus 
Executive Director 
California State Association of Counties 
 
Tim Carmichael  
President/CEO 
CCEEB 
 
Debbie Murdock 
Executive Director 
Association of California Egg Farmers 
 
Julia Bishop Hall  
Senior Legislative Advocate 
Association of California Water Agencies  
 
Adrian Covert 
Senior VP, Public Policy 
Bay Area Council  
 
Steve Lenton 
General Manager 
Bellflower Somerset Mutual Water Company 
 
Nicole Helms 
Executive Director 
California Alfalfa and Forage Association  
 
Todd W. Sanders 
Executive Director 
California Apple Commission 
 
Claudia Carter 
Executive Director 
California Association of Wheat Growers 
 
Natalie Collins 
President  
California Association of Winegrape Growers 

Jane Townsend 
Executive Director 
California Bean Shippers Association 
 
Todd Sanders 
Executive Director 
California Blueberry Association 
 
Dan Dunmoyer 
President and CEO 
California Building Industry Association 
 
Kristopher Anderson 
Policy Advocate 
California Chamber of Commerce 
 
Roger Isom 
President/CEO 
California Cotton Ginners and Growers Assoc.  
 
Alex Biering 
Senior Policy Advocate 
California Farm Bureau  
 
Daniel Hartwig  
President  
California Fresh Fruit Association 
 
Chris Zanobini 
President/CEO 
California Grain and Feed Association 
 
Lance Hastings 
President & CEO 
California Manufacturers & Technology Assoc. 
 
Chris Zanobini 
Executive Director 
California Pear Growers Association 
 
Chris Zanobini 
Executive Vice-President 
California Seed Association 

mailto:aabergel@cmua.org


SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 6 

 
Ann Quinn 
Executive Vice President  
California State Floral Association 
 
Robert Verloop 
Executive Director/CEO 
California Walnuts 
 
Ann Quinn 
Executive Vice President  
California Warehouse Association 
 
Sharron Zoller 
President 
California Women for Agriculture 
 
Kristine McCaffrey  
General Manager 
Calleguas Municipal Water District 
 
Tom Moody 
General Manager 
City of Corona 
 
Patricia Lock Dawson 
Mayor 
City of Riverside 
 
Elizabeth Espinosa 
County of Riverside 
 
J. M. Barrett 
General Manager  
Coachella Valley Water District 
 
John Bosler, P.E. 
General Manager and CEO 
Cucamonga Valley Water District  
 
Mark Orcutt 
President & CEO 
East Bay Leadership Council 
 
Joe Mouawad, P.E. 
General Manager 
Eastern Municipal Water District  
 
Jim Abercrombie  
General Manager 
El Dorado Irrigation District  

Greg Thomas 
General Manager 
Elsinore Valley Municipal Water District  
 
Joe Gagliardi 
Chief Executive Officer 
Folsom Chamber of Commerce  
 
Jason Phillips 
CEO 
Friant Water Authority  
 
Christopher Valdez 
President 
Grower-Shipper Association 
 
Paul Cook 
General Manager 
Irvine Ranch Water District 
 
David Pedersen 
General Manager 
Las Virgenes Municipal Water District  
 
Matt Hurley 
General Manager 
McMullin Area GSA 
 
Paul Shoenberger, P.E. 
General Manager 
Mesa Water District  
 
Kevin Abernathy 
Manager 
Milk Producers Council  
 
Jimi Netniss 
General Manager 
Modesto Irrigation District  
 
Justin Scott-Coe 
General Manager 
Monte Vista Water District  
 
Patrick Ellis 
ACE/ President/CEO 
Murrieta/Wildomar Chamber of Commerce  
 
John Kabateck 
State Director  
National Federation of Independent Business  



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 7 

Joanne Webster 
Chief Executive Officer 
North Bay Leadership Council 
 
David Guy 
Executive Director 
Northern California Water Association  
 
Todd Sanders 
Executive Director 
Olive Growers Council of California 
 
Kim Thorner 
General Manager 
Olivenhain Municipal Water District  
 
Chris Zanobini 
Executive Officer  
Pacific Coast Renderers Association 
 
Debbie Murdock 
Executive Director 
Pacific Egg and Poultry Association 
 
Dennis LaMoreaux 
General Manager  
Palmdale Water District  
 
Jason Martin 
Interim General Manager 
Rancho California Water District 
 
Jon Switalski 
Executive Director 
Rebuild So-Cal Partnership 
 
Tom Coleman 
General Manager 
Rowland Water District  
 
Lisa Yamashita-Lopez 
General Manager 
Rubio Cañon Land and Water Association  
 
Amanda Blackwood  
President & CEO  
Sac Metropolitan Chamber of Commerce  
 
Miguel J. Guerrero 
P.E. General Manager 
San Bernardino Municipal Water Department  

Heather Dyer 
General Manager 
San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District  
 
Paul Helliker 
General Manager 
San Juan Water District 
 
Matt Stone 
General Manager 
Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency   
 
Chris Lee 
General Manager 
Solano County Water Agency  
 
Peter M. Rietkerk 
General Manager 
South San Joaquin Irrigation District  
 
Eric McLeod 
Chair 
Southwest California Legislative Council  
 
Justin M. Hopkins 
General Manager 
Stockton East Water District  
 
Jeff R. Pape 
General Manager 
Temescal Valley Water District  
 
Matthew Litchfield 
General Manager 
Three Valleys Municipal Water District 
 
Fernando Paludi 
General Manager 
Trabuco Canyon Water District  
 
Brad Koehn 
General Manager 
Turlock Irrigation District  
 
Kirti Mutatkar 
President & CEO 
United Ag 
 
Vince Gin, P.E. 
Deputy Operating Officer 
Valley Water   



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 8 

Elizabeth Howard Espinosa 
UCC Advocacy Team 
Urban Counties of California  
 
Bob Reeb  
Executive Director  
Valley Ag Water Coalition 
 
Gary Arant 
General Manager 
Valley Center Municipal Water District  
 
Erik Hutchman 
P.E. General Manager 
Walnut Valley Water District  
 
E.J. Caldwell 
General Manager  
West Basin Municipal Water District 
 
Valerie Pryor 
General Manager 
Zone 7 Water Agency 
 
Roger Isom  
President/CEO 
Western Agricultural Processors Association  
 
Dave Puglia 
President & CEO 
Western Growers  
 
Sharon Haligan 
Director, Administrative Services 
Western Plant Health 
 
Craig Miller 
General Manager 
Western Municipal Water District   
 
Norman Huff 
General Manager 
Camrosa Water District 
 
Chris Berch 
General Manager 
Jurupa Community Services District  
 
Brian R. Laddusaw 
General Manager 
Rubidoux Community Services District  

James Prior  
General Manager 
San Gabriel County Water District  
 
Jeff Mosher 
General Manager 
Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority  
 
Jose Martinez 
General Manager 
Valley County Water District 
 
John Thiel 
General Manager  
West Valley Water District  
 
Sarah Wiltfong 
Director of Advocacy  
BizFed Los Angeles County  
 
Amber Bolden  
Director of Communications 
Black Voice News  
 
Jeff Montejano 
CEO 
Building Industry Assoc. of Southern CA  
 
Mandip Samra 
General Manager  
Burbank Water and Power  
 
Melanie Barker  
President  
California Association of Realtors  
 
Robert C. Lapsley 
President  
California Business Roundtable 
 
Greg Johnson  
President  
California Farm Water Coalition  
 
Julian Canete 
President and CEO  
California Hispanic Chambers of Commerce 
 
Jennifer Capitolo 
Executive Director  
California Water Association  



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 9 

Sheri Merrick 
Executive Director  
Citrus Heights Chamber of Commerce  
 
Jeremy Smith 
Council Member 
City of Canyon Lake  
 
Joe Males 
Mayor 
City of Hemet 
 
Natasha Johnson  
Council Member  
City of Lake Elsinore  
 
Chris Barajas 
Council Member 
City of Jurupa Valley 
 
Dr. Lisa DeForest 
Mayor Pro Tem 
City of Murrieta  
 
Paul Leon  
Mayor  
City of Ontario 
 
Daniel E. Garcia  
Interim General Manager 
City of Riverside Public Utilities 
 
Connie Stopher  
Executive Director  
Economic Development Coalition  
 
Ana Martin 
Governmental Affairs Manager 
Greater Riverside Chambers of Commerce 
 
Eric Keen  
Chairman of Board of Directors 
HDR Engineering  
 
Jack Monger 
CEO 
Industrial Environmental Association  
 
Wes Andree 
Executive Director  
Jurupa Mountain Discovery Center  

Ana Martin 
Staff Liaison 
Monday Morning Group of Riverside 
 
Judi Penman 
President & CEO  
San Bernardino Area Chamber of Commerce 
 
Luis Portillo 
President & CEO 
San Gabriel Valley Economic Partnership 
 
Aziz Amiri 
CEO 
San Gabriel Valley Regional Chamber of Commerce 
 
Adam Ruiz 
Governmental Affairs Director  
SRCAR  
 
Molly Kirkland 
Director of Public Affairs  
Southern CA Rental Housing Association  
 
Stephan Tucker  
General Manager 
Water Replenishment District  
 
Steve Johnson  
General Manager 
Desert Water Agency  
 
Jared Macias 
Administrative Office 
Puente Basin Water Agency  
 
Melissa Sparks-Kranz, MPP 
Legislative Affairs Lobbyist 
League of California Cities 
 
Dan Denham 
General Manager 
San Diego County Water Authority  
 
David M. Merritt 
General Manager 
Kings River Conservation District 
 
Steven Haugen 
Watermaster 
Kings River Water Association 



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 10 

Kat Wuelfing 
General Manager 
Mid-Peninsula Water District 
 
Jennifer Pierre 
General Manager 
State Water Contractors 
 
Mauricio Guardado 
General Manager 
United Water Conservation District 
 
Robb Grantham 
General Manager 
Santa Margarita Water District 
 
Harvey De La Torre 
General Manager 
Municipal Water District of Orange County 
 
Charles Wilson 
Executive Director 
Southern California Water Coalition 
 
Glenn Farrel 
Executive Director 
CalDesal 
 
Casey Creamer 
President 
California Citrus Mutual 
 
Tricia Geringer 
Vice President of Government Affairs 
Agricultural Council of California 
 
John Urdi 
Executive Director 
Mammoth Lakes Tourism 
 
Lacy Schoen 
President/CEO 
Brea Chamber of Commerce 
 
Gina Molinaro-Cardera 
Board Supervisor 
Dublin Chamber of Commerce 
 
Lance Eckhart  
General Manager  
San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency  

Jim Piefer 
Executive Director 
Regional Water Authority  
 
Federico Barajas  
Executive Director  
San Luis & Delta Mendota Water Authority  
 
Ernesto A. Avila  
Board President 
Contra Costa Water District  
 
Caroline Schirato  
Board Chair 
Utica Water and Power Authority  
 
Julee Malinowski-Ball 
Lobbyist for  
California Fire Chiefs Association  
 
Julee Malinowski-Ball 
Lobbyist for  
Fire Districts Association of California 
 
Justin Caporusso 
Executive Director 
Mountain Counties Water Resources Assoc  
 
Brenley McKenna 
Managing Director 
WateReuse California  
 
Randy Schoellerman 
President  
California Groundwater Coalition  
 
Neil McCormick  
CEO 
California Special Districts Association 
 
Krista Bernasconi  
Mayor 
City of Roseville 
 
Tim Worley  
Managing Director 
Community Water Systems Alliance 
 
 
 



SB 72 Coalition Support – Assembly Appropriations  
Page 11 

Sue Mosburg 
Executive Director 
CA-NV AWWA  
 
Jacob Asare 
State Government Affairs Manager 
Associated Equipment Distributors 
 
Deven Upadhyay 
General Manager 
Metropolitan Water District of Southern 
California 
 
Shivaji Deshmukh, P.E. 
General Manager 
Inland Empire Utilities Agency  
 
Jessica Gauger 
Director of Legislative Advocacy & Public Affairs 
California Association of Sanitation Agencies 
 
Craig Kessler 
Executive Director 
California Alliance for Golf  
 
Carlos Quintero 
General Manager 
Sweetwater Authority  

Caity Maple 
Councilmember – District 5 
City of Sacramento 
 
Austin Ewell 
Executive Director 
Water Blueprint for the San Joaquin Valley 
Advocacy Fund  
 
Ted Trimble 
General Manager 
Western Canal Water District 
 
Jeff Payne 
Assistant General Manager  
Westlands Water District  
 
Eric Will 
Policy Advocate 
Rural County Representatives of California  
 
William Vanderwaal  
General Manager 
Tehama-Colusa Canal Authority  
 
Mauricio Guardado 
General Manager  
United Water ConservationDistrict  

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

 

   
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

                                    

                             
 

 



SB 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended 
Page 2 of 8 
 

 

 

  

 
July 11, 2025 
 
The Honorable Juan Carrillo 
Chair, Assembly Local Government Committee 
1020 N Street, Room 157 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
 
RE: Senate Bill 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended [As Amended July 8, 2025] 
 Hearing Date: July 16, 2025 – Assembly Local Government Committee 
 
Dear Assembly Member Carrillo: 
 
The undersigned organizations write to regretfully inform you of our opposition to Senate Bill 707 
(Durazo) unless it is amended to address our concerns. Our organizations respect and share the goals of 
the author, and we hold a deep and dedicated commitment to the successful implementation of the Brown 
Act for the benefit of the communities we are entrusted to serve. Many of us are proud leaders, 
supporters, and participants in the foremost trainings, certifications, and other demonstrations of 
accountability and good governance, such as the Special District Leadership Foundation and its District of 
Distinction, Transparency Certificate of Excellence, and more. 
 
Stakeholders, including those representing the undersigned organizations, previously worked with the 
author’s office related to a prior version of this bill to negotiate language that was mutually agreeable and 
allowed stakeholders to remain neutral on this proposal to overhaul the Ralph M. Brown Act (the Brown 
Act). While we appreciated the opportunity to work collaboratively to refine the proposed legislation, 
recent amendments have significantly recast SB 707 into a measure that is no longer practicable and one 
that special districts and others cannot reasonably comply with.  
 
The July 8 amendments make a number of refinements that we appreciate. However, given the current 
form of SB 707 and the particular nature of its impact on local agencies including special districts, we are 
left with no choice but to oppose this measure for the reasons explained in this letter. 
 
In short, the most problematic provisions in SB 707 include the following: 
 

• Eligible Legislative Bodies. The "eligible legislative bodies" provisions were clearly drafted 
throughout the measure without special districts in mind and are unworkable in application to 



SB 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended 
Page 3 of 8 
 

special districts. This dramatic expansion of the measure occurred after many in our coalition had 
reached a neutral position on the legislation; this recent amendment could potentially apply its 
provisions to hundreds of additional agencies and create confusion for hundreds more. 
Unfortunately, because official population data does not exist for special districts, nobody will 
confidently know exactly which agencies or how many are included. Where will this data come 
from? Who will referee its application? This will lead to public confusion, consternation, 
uncertainty, and liability. 

• Unnecessary Inefficiency and Micromanagement of Local Service Specialists. Mandated 
inefficiency arising from repeated public comment when legislative bodies have already 
discussed an agenda item. Prescriptive design requirements for the websites of local agencies 
and their legislative bodies, as well as expanded physical agenda posting requirements are 
among numerous extremely specific minutia mandated upon the boards and staff of local 
agencies to the point that the measure appears to write into state law that an agency must literally 
print out copies of the full Act and hand them to its board members. 

• Costly Litigation. Exposure of legislative bodies to additional litigation risk arising from, among 
other things, required references to specific statutory provisions relied upon for remote 
participation in the minutes of public meetings and significantly extending the timeframe for 
individuals to sue alleging noncompliance with the Brown Act. This legal liability is exacerbated by 
the multitude of new Brown Act requirements in the bill, some vague and some hyper-specific, 
which create new grounds for suing public agencies. Such lawsuits could be frivolous or 
malicious, stemming from bad-actors intent on disrupting, delaying, or blocking important 
infrastructure projects, housing developments, or other policymaking critical to our communities. 

 
This inventory is a non-exhaustive listing; issues with SB 707 are more comprehensively detailed below. 
 
SB 707 IMPOSES NEW, COSTLY MANDATES UNIQUE ONLY TO LOCAL AGENCIES 
 
Of particular concern within SB 707 are the provisions related to “eligible legislative bodies.” As it relates 
to special districts, “eligible legislative body” is defined to include the board of directors of a special district 
“whose boundaries include a population of 200,000 or more and that has an internet website.”  
 
Previously, “eligible legislative body” did not include special districts, and included only cities and counties 
based on their populations. Special districts are uniquely disadvantaged in this regard as compared to 
cities and counties given that special districts do not have access to U.S. census data detailing population 
size within their jurisdictional boundaries; while the California Special Districts Association and its national 
affiliates are pursuing legislation at the federal level to rectify this disparity, those efforts have not yet 
resulted in access to this data.  
 
Furthermore, attempting to use population figures as a threshold for inclusion in the definition of “eligible 
legislative bodies” raises additional policy concerns. For example, a resource conservation district serving 
the entire population of a county of more than 200,000 people may fund its entire operation on grants, 
with zero permanent funding for ever-expanding administrative tasks. Some resource conservation 
districts and other special districts are volunteer-ran or employ as few as one full-time staff member. Most 
countywide special districts, from an administrative resources perspective, are in no way comparable to a 
city or county government serving 30,000 people let alone one even a fraction of that size. 
 
Taking into consideration the issues referenced above, we request that SB 707 return to its original 
application and special districts be removed from the definition of “eligible legislative body.” Individual 
stakeholders had moved to a “neutral” position on that version with other amendments that were 
accepted in the first house. Without this change, special districts encounter not only the issues raised 
above, but issues posed by the related provisions found within SB 707, in large part because the 
underlying language within SB 707 was clearly written without special districts in mind. 
 
Two-Way Telephone or Audiovisual Platform 
 
The bill requires that, regardless of the technical ability or the available resources of the specified 
legislative bodies, all public meetings of the described legislative bodies include an opportunity for 



SB 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended 
Page 4 of 8 
 
members of the public to attend via a two-way telephonic service or a two-way audiovisual platform, 
except in the event that telephonic or internet service is not available at the meeting location. If an eligible 
legislative body elects to provide a two-way audiovisual platform, the eligible legislative body would be 
required to publicly post and provide a call-in option, and activate any automatic captioning function 
during the meeting if an automatic captioning function is included with the two-way audiovisual platform.  
 
All public meetings would be required to provide the public with an opportunity to comment on an agenda 
item via a two-way telephonic or two-way audiovisual platform, and would be required to ensure the 
opportunity for the members of the public participating via a two-way telephonic or two-way audiovisual 
platform to comment on agenda items with the same time allotment as a person attending a meeting in 
person. Eligible legislative bodies would be required to reasonably assist members of the public who wish 
to translate a public meeting into any language or wish to receive interpretation provided by another 
member of the public, so long as the interpretation is not disrupting to the meeting. The eligible legislative 
body is required to publicize instructions on how to request assistance.  
These provisions that mandate the usage by a legislative body of a two-way telephonic service or a two-
way audiovisual platform to conduct all public meetings stand in contrast to the requirements placed on 
state agencies and strike a prominent contrast to the approach to public meetings adopted by the State 
Legislature, which recently abandoned all such systems and transitioned back to requiring in-person 
attendance to provide public comment. Understandably, the State Legislature made the transition away 
from the moderated telephone line service employed during the coronavirus pandemic when safe in-
person attendance became possible due to the logistical challenges involved in running such a system 
and the extremely lengthy hearings that resulted. Special districts are not immune to the very same 
challenges that led the State Legislature to abandon its system, and so we reiterate our request that 
special districts be removed from the definition of “eligible legislative bodies,” thereby relieving them of 
these onerous requirements. 
 
Duplication of Existing Translation Requirements 
 
SB 707 requires that the agenda for each meeting of an eligible legislative body be translated into all 
“applicable languages,” and each translation shall be posted consistent with general agenda posting 
requirements. “Applicable languages” is defined in SB 707 to mean languages spoken jointly by 20 
percent or more of the population in the city or county in which the eligible legislative body is located that 
speaks English less than “very well” and jointly speaks a language other than English according to data 
from the most recent American Community Survey. Each translation must include instructions in the 
applicable language describing how to join the meeting by the telephonic or internet-based service option, 
including any requirements for registration for public comment.  
 
These translation provisions duplicate existing translation requirements as implemented by the Dymally-
Alatorre Bilingual Services Act. Under the Dymally-Alatorre Bilingual Services Act, every local public 
agency serving a substantial number of non-English-speaking people must employ a sufficient number of 
qualified bilingual persons in public contact positions or as interpreters to assist those in such positions to 
ensure provision of information and services in the language of the non-English-speaking population.  
Appropriately, it appears possible that a local agency could seek and receive reimbursement from the 
Commission on State Mandates as a result of any added costs placed on local agencies in order to 
facilitate the translation of information; local agencies would therefore have a means to pursue cost 
recovery under a framework thoughtfully designed by the Legislature and California voters. Given this, we 
request that the translation requirements in SB 707 be removed.  
 
Agenda Posting 
 
Under SB 707, an eligible legislative body would be required to make available a physical location that is 
freely accessible to the public in reasonable proximity to the physical location in which the agenda and 
translations are generally posted, and the body must allow members of the public to post additional 
translations of the agenda in that location.  
 
The strict requirements of the applicable Brown Act provisions related to agenda posting and established 
case law related to the availability of agenda documents for public inspection mean that local agencies 



SB 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended 
Page 5 of 8 
 
must carefully design and designate a location for the posting of those documents. A site must be chosen 
that remains within the continuous control of the local agency while also being available to the public 
essentially 24 hours a day, seven days a week. These characteristics present challenges for any agency 
that would have to post additional agenda documents beyond what is already required, as any particularly 
expansive or lengthy agenda written in English may already occupy most if not all of the physical space 
available for posting. In the event that even a few local agencies use the same community space to post 
their agendas (e.g., a bulletin board within a local U.S. post office) the translation requirements posed by 
SB 707 would prove especially challenging.  
 
Beyond the practical challenges, this new statutory provision could facilitate a bad-actor in posting 
intentionally inaccurate and misleading agendas with the goal to manipulate populations that do not read 
English well. For example, it is foreseeable that someone opposed to a local action related to the 
environment, or development, or taxation, or any number of controversial policies could post an agenda 
alongside the local agency’s official agenda in a manner that appears to be an official translation, yet that 
deceptively re-casts and re-words the agenda items with the express intent to deceive. 
 
For these reasons, we request that the requirement to make available a physical location for members of 
the public to post additional translations of the agenda be removed from the bill.  
 
Website Requirements 
 
SB 707 would require eligible legislative bodies to have in place a system for electronically facilitating 
requests for meeting agendas and materials through email or through an integrated agenda management 
platform. Information about how to make a request using this system must be made accessible through a 
prominent direct link posted on the primary internet website home page of the eligible legislative body. 
Eligible legislative bodies would be required to create and maintain an accessible internet web page 
dedicated to public meetings that includes, or provides a link to, all of the following information: a) a 
general explanation of the public meeting process for the city council or a county board of 
supervisors; b) an explanation of the procedures for a member of the public to provide in-person or 
remote oral public comment during a public meeting or to submit written public comment; c) a calendar of 
all public meeting dates with calendar listings that include the date, time, and location of each public 
meeting; and d) the meeting agenda. The eligible legislative body must include a link to the dedicated 
web page on the home page of the eligible legislative body’s internet website. The dedicated web page 
must be translated into “applicable languages,” and each translation must be accessible through a 
prominent direct link posted on the primary internet website home page of the eligible legislative body. 
Additionally, eligible legislative bodies would be required to make reasonable efforts to provide public 
meeting information to groups that do not traditionally participate in public meetings. 
 
These requirements do not take into consideration the expertise and experience of legislative bodies in 
designing their websites and distributing meeting information. For example, water agencies endeavor to 
make payment of outstanding water bills straightforward and easy to understand; customer experience is 
an important part of a website’s user interface for this purpose. Electronic mailing lists currently 
maintained by legislative bodies enable the rapid dissemination of information related to upcoming public 
meetings. Legislative bodies are already under various website posting requirements that clutter their 
webpages, and SB 707 threatens to overwhelm agencies with several added web links and several 
added webpages. We would request that all these added posting and outreach requirements be removed 
from the bill. Additionally, the requirement that the eligible legislative body of a special district include or 
link to “a general explanation of the public meeting process for the city council or a county board of 
supervisors” seems wholly out of place; we believe that this represents a drafting error that resulted from 
embedding special districts into a framework designed with cities and counties in mind, which speaks to 
how unsuitable it is to include special districts in these provisions.   
 
Meeting Time Management 
 
SB 707 removes a provision from the Brown Act that states that agendas need not provide an opportunity 
for members of the public to address the legislative body on any item that has already been considered 
by a committee, composed exclusively of members of the legislative body, at a public meeting wherein all 



SB 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended 
Page 6 of 8 
 
interested members of the public were afforded the opportunity to address the committee on the item, 
before or during the committee’s consideration of the item, unless the item has been substantially 
changed since the committee heard the item, as determined by the legislative body. SB 707 adds a 
requirement that every notice for a special meeting must provide an opportunity for members of the public 
to directly address the legislative body concerning any item that has been described in the notice for the 
meeting before or during consideration of that item. 
 
Existing law applicable to state agencies expressly provides that a state agency is not required to permit 
repeated public comment for items already considered by a committee composed exclusively of members 
of the state body at a public meeting where interested members of the public were afforded the 
opportunity to address the committee on the item, before or during the committee’s consideration of the 
item, unless the item has been substantially changed since the committee heard the item, as determined 
by the state body. This fact serves as another striking contrast between the treatment of the state versus 
the treatment of the legislative bodies of local public agencies under their respective applicable open 
meeting laws.  
 
The Brown Act is designed to promote open and public meetings, which inherently can have the effect of 
lengthening the public deliberation process. However, the more the State pushes down requirements that 
remove the flexibility of local leaders to effectively and efficiently manage the public’s meetings in a timely 
manner, the longer and more burdensome these affairs become to the point where average citizens 
become less and less engaged or interested in ever sitting through a meeting and participating in their 
government. 
 
To re-establish parity between the state and legislative bodies of local agencies, and to afford local 
leaders the flexibility to manage meetings in the manner in which best meets the needs and time-
constraints for the people they serve, we request that SB 707 be amended to reinstate the language 
described above. 
 
SB 707 IMPOSES MANDATES WITH UNCERTAIN IMPACTS TO TRANSPARENCY 
 
Amendments made in Section 3 of the bill would require a local agency to provide a copy of the Brown 
Act to any person elected or appointed to serve as a member of a legislative body of the local agency. 
Unfortunately, the mere provisioning of a copy of the Brown Act to individuals serving on a legislative 
body does nothing in and of itself to foster compliance with the Act’s provisions; the requirement to 
provide a copy of the Act merely increases records retention requirements and increases district 
exposure to liability for violations of the Act, while ignoring the proactive measures taken by local 
agencies to provide individuals serving on a legislative body with Brown Act compliance training. As a 
result, we request that the changes made by SB 707 in Section 3 be reversed entirely. 
 
SB 707 UNDULY INCREASES AGENCY EXPOSURE TO LITIGATION 
 
A new provision in Section 8 of the bill would require that the minutes of a meeting held by a legislative 
body identify “the specific provision of law that [a] member relied upon to permit their participation by 
teleconferencing.” This directive not only lacks specificity – as it is unclear whether this would be satisfied 
by citing a specific code section, subdivision, subparagraph, or similar – but also creates yet more 
grounds for a legislative body to be subject to litigation while at the same time arriving alongside 
sweeping revisions of large portions of the Brown Act.  
 
Also in Section 8 of the bill is a new requirement for local agencies to identify and make available to their 
legislative bodies a list of one or more meeting locations that may be available for use by the legislative 
bodies to conduct their meetings. It is our understanding that a failure to provide this list would constitute 
grounds for the initiation of proceedings described in California Government Code section 54960. 
 
SB 707 extends the time a petitioner has to invalidate an action taken by a legislative body in violation of 
the Brown Act, from nine months to 12 months after the alleged violation. 
 



SB 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended 
Page 7 of 8 
 
Given that these provisions elevate agency exposure to litigation, we request that they be struck from SB 
707 or substantially revised such that agencies are provided with the necessary clarity and insulation from 
litigation commenced in connection with these requirements. 
 
Special districts, along with other types of local agencies, are committed to transparency and conducting 
the people’s business in an open and public manner. Unfortunately, the changes made to the Brown Act 
by SB 707 serve to create myriad costly and unavoidable problems and expose these entities to 
substantially more litigation risk at a time when they can least afford it. For these reasons, we must 
regretfully oppose Senate Bill 707 (Durazo) unless it is amended to address our concerns. If you have 
any questions about our letter or our position, please do not hesitate to contact Marcus Detwiler (CSDA) 
at marcusd@csda.net to connect with any of the organizations listed on this letter. 
 
Sincerely,  
 

Marcus Detwiler 
Legislative Representative 
California Special Districts Association 
 

Sarah Bridge 
VP, Advocacy & Strategy 
Association of California Healthcare 

Districts  

Dane Hutchings 
Legislative Representative 
California Association of Recreation & 

Park Districts 
 

Fredrico Barajas 
Executive Director 
San Luis & Delta Mendota Water Authority 

 
Julee Malinowski-Ball 
Legislative Advocate 
California Fire Chiefs Association 

 
Julee Malinowski-Ball 
Legislative Advocate 
Fire Districts Association of California 

 
Cindi Summers 
Board President 
Public Cemetery Alliance 

 
Nancy Wahl-Scheurich 
Executive Director 
California Association of Resource 

Conservation Districts 

 
Carol Griese 
Executive Director 
California Association of Public Cemetery 

Districts 

 
Ryan Clausnitzer 
General Manager 
Alameda County Mosquito Abatement 

District 

 

 
Dan Denham 
General Manager 
San Diego County Water Authority 

 
Tim Deutsch, CSDM 
General Manager 
Orange County Cemetery District 

Lora Young 
Lora Young MPA, CSDM 
District Manager 
Orange County Mosquito and Vector 

Control District 
 

 
  

mailto:marcusd@csda.net


SB 707 (Durazo) – Oppose unless Amended 
Page 8 of 8 
 

 
Andrea Abergel 
Director of Water 
California Municipal Utilities Association 

 
Gary Arant 
General Manager 
Valley Center Municipal Water District 

 

 
Brett Hodgkiss 
General Manager 
Vista Irrigation District 

 
 
 
 

 
Jose Martinez 
General Manager 
Otay Water District 

 
James Gumpel, P.E. 
General Manager 
Vallecitos Water District 

 
Robert Hernandez 
General Manager 
Hesperia Recreation & Park District 

 

 
Brian Olney 
General Manager 
Helix Water District 

 
Clint Baze 
General Manager 
Rincon del Diablo Municipal Water District 

 
Amber Rossow 
Policy Advocate 
Association of California Water Agencies 
 
 
CC: The Honorable María Elena Durazo 
 Members, Assembly Local Government Committee 
 Angela Mapp, Chief Consultant, Assembly Local Government Committee 
 Jonathan Peterson, Principal Consultant, Senate Local Government Committee 
 Tobias Wolken, Consultant, Assembly Republican Caucus 
 Brady Borcherding, Deputy Legislative Secretary, Office of Governor Newsom 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 5, 2025 
 
Governor Gavin Newsom 
1021 O Street, Suite 9000 
Sacramento, CA 95814  
 
Senate President Pro Tempore Mike 
McGuire 
1021 O St., Suite 8518 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
 

Speaker of the Assembly Robert 
Rivas 
State Capitol 
P.O. Box 942849 
Sacramento, CA 94249-0029 
 
 
 

 
RE: Support for Delta Conveyance Project Streamlining Trailer Bill  
 
Dear Governor Newsom, Pro Tem McGuire, and Speaker Rivas,  
 
On behalf of a broad coalition of labor, business, infrastructure, social justice and nonprofit 

organizations, we would like to express our strong support for the budget trailer bill that is 



intended to streamline processes for advancing the Delta Conveyance Project (DCP) to a point 

where informed decisions can be made regarding construction investment.   

This budget trailer bill is NOT about circumventing public engagement and review – this 

budget trailer bill is all about breaking through redundant, archaic processes that have 

resulted in endless delays, duplicative reviews, and millions upon millions of dollars of 

additive costs, while impeding the State’s ability to complete the DCP and other critical, 

needed infrastructure projects. 

The DCP is a critical component of California’s plans to fortify the State Water Project (SWP) in 
preparation for the impacts of extreme weather and climate change. The SWP delivers water 
to more than 27 million Californians and 750,000 acres of farmland and is the engine that 
powers California’s economic success. However, this system is vulnerable to extreme weather 
and unpredictable precipitation patterns and, as a result, our state’s main water supply is at 
serious risk.  
 
According to the Department of Water Resources’ SWP Delivery Capability Report, the SWP is 

expected to lose up to 23% of its supply in the next 20 years due to changing flow patterns 

and extreme weather shifts. It is critical that we act NOW by advancing the DCP to prepare 

California’s water infrastructure to protect the long-term reliability and affordability of water 

for the millions of Californian homes and businesses that rely upon the SWP.  

The 2024 Benefit/Cost Analysis of the Delta Conveyance Project found that water conveyed 
through the SWP is the most affordable source of water compared to alternatives like 
desalination or recycling. These alternative sources are necessary, but the volume of water 
delivered by the SWP cannot be replaced. 
 
For decades, the DCP has been stalled by frivolous lawsuits and duplicative reviews.  These 

are the universal problems facing major infrastructure throughout California, and 

foundational to why it is so difficult to do big things in our state and bring major 

infrastructure to completion.   

The budget trailer bill proposal restores balance to this process – ensuring legitimate 

concerns are addressed, while removing tools for obstruction and delay.  Every year of delay 

in construction of the DCP costs California’s water ratepayers – including nearly 8 million 

people living in disadvantaged communities – approximately $600 million. The budget trailer 

bill proposal reduces bureaucratic red tape, which translates into real savings for Californians 

and for the State budget. 

 
The proposed trailer bill smooths administrative processes to help move the Delta 
Conveyance Project in a way that balances environmental protections while improving the 
efficiency of the review and approval process.  
 
It needs to be said, that this DCP “is not your grandparent’s water conveyance project.”  The 
DCP has been redesigned to be smaller, more environmentally responsive, and less intrusive 
to Delta communities.  At the same time, the DCP will generate thousands of good-paying 

https://water.ca.gov/News/News-Releases/2024/Jul-24/New-Report-Estimates-Potential-Water-Losses-Due-to-Climate-Crisis-Actions-to-Boost-Supplies
https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/Web-Pages/Programs/Delta-Conveyance/Public-Information/DCP-Benefit-Cost-Analysis-2024-05-13__ADA.pdf


union construction jobs and stimulate local economies, especially in areas hardest hit by 
economic downturns and drought-related agricultural cutbacks. 
 
For these reasons, our coalition urges you to support the DCP trailer bill. We appreciate your 
consideration and look forward to working with you to advance this important legislation. 
 
Sincerely,  
 

  

Deven Upadhyay, General Manager  
The Metropolitan Water District of 
Southern California 
 
Joe Cruz, Executive Director 
California State Council of Laborers 
 
Matthew Cremins, Legislative Consultant 
CA/NV Conference of Operating 
Engineers 
 
Dan Denham, General Manager 
San Diego County Water Authority 
 
Tyler Munzing, Director of Government 
Affairs 
American Council of Engineering 
Companies – California 
 
Peter Tateishi, Chief Executive Officer 
Associated General Contractors of 
California 
 
Kris Murray, Executive Director 
Association of California Cities – Orange 
County 
 
Adrian Covert, Senior Vice President of 
Public Policy 
Bay Area Council 
 
Jeff Montejano, Chief Executive Officer 
Building Industry Association of 
Southern California 
 
Tracy Hernandez, CEO 
Los Angeles County Business Federation 
(LA BizFed) 
New California Coalition 
 
Dan Dunmoyer, President & CEO 
California Building Industry Association 
 
 

Rick Callender, President 
NAACP California Hawaii State Conference  
 
Kristopher Anderson, Policy Advocate, 
Water, Agriculture and Resources 
California Chamber of Commerce 
 
Michael Quigley, Executive Director 
California Alliance for Jobs 
 
Ernesto Medrano, Executive Secretary 
LA/OC Building & Constructions Trade 
Council 
 
Robert Saucedo, Chairman 
Groundswell for Water Justice 
 
Thomas D. McCarthy, General Manager 
Kern County Water Agency 
 
Valerie Pryor, General Manager 
Zone 7 Water Agency 
 
Aaron Baker, P.E., Chief Operating Officer – 
Water Utility 
Santa Clara Valley Water District 
 
Richard Lambros, Managing Director 
Southern California Leadership Council 
 
Charley Wilson, Executive Director 
Southern California Water Coalition 
 
Jon Switalski, Executive Director 
Rebuild SoCal Partnership 
 
Dave Sorem, President 
Secure Water Alliance 
 
Ahmad Thomas, CEO 
Silicon Valley Leadership Group 
 
 
 



 

  
Mayor Sharona R Nazarian, PsyD. 
City of Beverly Hills 
 
Nella McOsker, President 
Central City Association of Los Angeles 
 
Amanda Walsh, VP of Government Affairs 
Orange County Business Council 
 
Mike Lewis, Senior Vice President 
Construction Industry Coalition on 
Water Quality (CICWQ) 
 
Joe Mouwad, P.E., General Manager 
Eastern Municipal Water District 
 
Monica Garcia-Diaz, Chair 
South Bay Association of Chambers of 
Commerce 
 
Chisom Obeolu, Assistant General 
Manager  -- Water 
Glendale Water and Power 
 
Joe Cina, President & CEO 
Glendora Chamber of Commerce 
 
Danielle Borja, President & CEO 
Greater Conejo Valley Chamber of 
Commerce 
 
Peggi Hazlett, President & CEO 
Greater Ontario Business Council 
 
Zeb Welborn, President & CEO 
Chino Valley Chamber of Commerce 
 
Bobby Spiegel, President & CEO 
Corona Chamber of Commerce 
 
Erin Sasse, Chair 
Southwest California Legislative Council 
 
Nina Jazmadarian, General Manager 
Foothill Municipal Water District 
 
Claudette J. Baldemor, President & CEO 
Garden Grove Chamber of Commerce 
 

Rev. Jonathan Mosely, Director 
National Action Network – Western 
Region 
 
Stuart Waldman, President 
Valley Industry & Commerce Association 
 
Matthew Stone, General Manager 
Santa Clarita Valley Water Agency 
 
Paul Granillo, President & CEO 
Inland Empire Economic Partnership 
 
Carlos A. Singer, SVP & Chief Policy Officer 
Los Angeles Area Chamber of Commerce 
 
Julie B. Michaels, Executive Director 
Inland Action 
 
Shivaji Deshmukh, P.E., General Manager 
Inland Empire Utilities Agency 
 
Luis Portillo, President & CEO 
San Gabriel Valley Economic Partnership 
 
Charlie Nobles, Executive Director 
Southern California Contractors 
Association 
 
Gus Flores, Director of Government Affairs 
United Contractors 
 
Jeremy Harris, President & CEO 
Long Beach Area Chamber of Commerce 
 
Kristine McCaffrey, General Manager 
Calleguas Municipal Water District 
 
David Pedersen, General Manager 
Las Virgenes Municipal Water District 
 
Henry Rogers, Executive Director 
Harbor Association of Industry and 
Commerce 
 
Joanne McClasky, Executive Director 
Industry Business Council 
 
 



    

Matthew Hargrove, President & CEO 
California Business Properties Association 
 
Harvey De La Torre, General Manager 
Municipal Water District of Orange 
County 
 
Adam Eventov, President 
Murietta Temecula Group 
 
John Kennedy, General Manager 
Orange County Water District 
 
Eileen Hupp, President & CEO 
Palos Verdes Peninsula Chamber of 
Commerce 
 
Jason Martin, General Manager 
Rancho California Water District 
 
Mara Santos, President & CEO 
Redondo Beach Chamber of Commerce 
 
Marisa Creter, Executive Director 
San Gabriel Valley Council of 
Governments 
 
Robb Grantham, General Manager 
Santa Margarita Water District 
 
Dennis Cafferty, General Manager 
El Toro Water District 
 
Mandip Samra, General Manager 
Burbank Water and Power 
 
Pete Martinez, General Manager 
Channel Islands Beach Community 
Services District  
 
Dennis D. LaMoreaux, CEO/General 
Manager 
Palmdale Water District 
 
Darin Kasamoto, General Manager  
San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water 
District 
 
Heather Dyer, General Manager 
San Bernardino Valley MWD 
 
 

Pat Fong Kushida, President & CEO 
California Asian Pacific Chamber of 
Commerce  
 
Rob Lapsley, President 
California Business Roundtable 
 
Lance Eckhart, General Manager 
San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency 
 
Aldo E. Schindler, City Manager 
City of Tustin 
 
Monica Farias, President & CEO 
Greater West Covina Business 
Association 
 
Randall Reed, Board President 
Cucamonga Valley Water District 
 
Victoria Hernandez, Executive Director 
South Orange County Economic 
Coalition 
 
Matthew Litchfield, General Manager 
Three Valleys Municipal Water District 
 
Donna Duperron, President & CEO 
Torrance Area Chamber of Commerce 
 
Paul Shoenberger, General Manager 
Mesa Water District 
 
Justin M. Scott-Coe, General Manager 
Monte Vista Water District 
 
Tom Love, General Manager 
Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal 
Water District (Upper Water) 
 
Louise Lamparra, Executive Director 
Ventura County Coalition of Labor, 
Agriculture and Business (CoLAB) 
 
Edward J. Caldwell, General Manager 
West Basin Municipal Water District 
 
Jim Barrett, General Manager 
Coachella Valley Water District 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Steve L. Johnson, P.E., General Manager 
Desert Water Agency 
 
Adnan Anabtawi, General Manager 
Mojave Water Agency 
 
Marsha Hansen, President & CEO 
El Segundo Chamber of Commerce 
 
John Thiel, General Manager 
West Valley Water District 
 
Andy Conli, President & CEO 
West Ventura County Business Alliance 
 
Councilman Brian Tisdale, City of Lake 
Elsinore 
Chair, Advocacy Committee 
Western Riverside Council of 
Governments 
 
Craig D. Miller, General Manager 
Western Water District 
 
James Lee, General Manager 
Crescenta Valley Water District 
 
Mary Leslie, President 
Los Angeles Business Council 
 
Roberto C. Arnold, Chairman & Founder 
Multicultural Business Alliance 
 
Ethan Smith, Chairman 
INVEST Fresno 
 
Chris Thorne, Chief Executive Officer 
North San Diego Business Chamber 
 
Brian Brennan, Executive Director 
21st Century Alliance 
 
Kelly Gardner, Executive Secretary 
Central Basin Water Association 
 
Carlos Solórzano-Cuadra, CEO 
Hispanic Chambers of Commerce of San 
Francisco 
 

Alma Quezada, P.G., General Manager 
Ventura River Water District 
 
Paul A. Cook, General Manager 
Irvine Ranch Water District 
 
Jennifer Spindler, General Manager 
Crestline-Lake Arrowhead Water 
Agency 
 
Caren Spilsbury, Executive Director 
Gateway Chamber Alliance 
 
James Lee, General Manager 
Crescenta Valley Water District 
(CVWD) 
 
Greg Thomas, General Manager 
Elsinore Valley Municipal Water 
District 
 
David Youngblood, P.E., General 
Manager 
East Orange County Water District 
 
David Reyes, General Manager 
Pasadena Water & Power 
 
Gail Delihant, Sr. Director, CA 
Government Affairs 
Western Growers Association 
 
Will Oliver, President & CEO 
Fresno County Economic 
Development Corporation  
 
Norman Huff, General Manager 
Camrosa Water District 
 
Lacy Schoen, President & CEO 
Brea Chamber of Commerce 
 
Amy Valdiva, Chairman of the Board 
Upland Chamber of Commerce 
 
Gary Arant, General Manager 
Valley Center Municipal Water District 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CC:   Members of the Assembly 

  Members of the Senate 

 

Monica Garcia-Diaz, Executive 
Director 
Wilmington Chamber of Commerce 
 
Lynda Noriega, President  
California Domestic Water 
Company 
 
Chris Neighbor, President & CEO 
SummerHill Homes 

David Ellis, President 
Delta Ventures, Inc 
 
Kimberly A. Thorner, General Manager 
Olivehain Municipal Water District 
 

Caren Spilsbury, Executive Director 
Norwalk Chamber of Commerce 



 

VALLEY CENTER 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

 

A Public Agency Organized July 12, 1954 

 
 

Physical Address: 29300 Valley Center Road; Valley Center, CA 92082  •  Mailing Address: P.O. Box 67; Valley Center, CA 92082 
Phone: (760) 735-4500   •   Website: www.vcmwd.org   •   Email: vcwater@valleycenterwater.org 

 

Board of Directors 
Enrico P. Ferro 

President 
Daniel E. Holtz 

Vice-President 
Oliver J. Smith 

Director 
Cooper T. Ness 

Director 
Alysha M. Stehly 

Director 
 

 

 
 
June 5, 2025 
 
 
The Honorable Representative Darrell Issa 
48th District of California 
221 W. Crest Street, #110 
Escondido, CA 92025 
 
Re:  Support for EPA Federal Funding for Water and Wastewater Infrastructure Programs 

Dear Representative Issa: 

On behalf of Valley Center Municipal Water District (Valley Center MWD), we are writing to urge you to 
support robust funding for the infrastructure programs that utilities around the country rely on. The U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF), Clean Water 
State Revolving Fund (CWSRF), collectively referred to as SRF funding, and Water Infrastructure Finance 
and Innovation Act (WIFIA) programs all offer critical financing to the water and wastewater sector and 
play a vital role in ensuring these critical resources continue to protect public health, the economy, and 
our country’s national security.  

Founded in 1954, Valley Center MWD provides water, wastewater, and recycled water services to roughly 
30,000 residents in a rural-urban interface in Northern San Diego County.  Valley Center MWD has 338 
miles of water pipelines and roughly 47 miles of wastewater lines, 40 reservoirs, 29 pumping stations, 113 
pumps, 8 natural gas engine pumps and 9 solar power generation sites that span a 101 square mile service 
area that includes one of the largest agricultural production areas in San Diego County.  

Valley Center MWD considers SRF loans as critical and reliable funding sources for necessary infrastructure 
upgrades to ensure the continued safe and reliable operation of our water, wastewater and recycled water 
systems. SRF funding is a critical low-cost financing tool to assist in financing a wide variety of water quality 
and infrastructure projects tailored to the specific needs of states and local agencies. By offering low-cost 
financing with flexible terms, SRF funding provides water and wastewater agencies the opportunity to 
build, upgrade and maintain safe and reliable water infrastructure – an opportunity they may not 
otherwise have without the program.  

SRF funds are allocated to states based on information collected through the EPA’s Drinking Water 
Infrastructure Needs Survey and Assessment (DWINSA) and Clean Watersheds Needs Survey (CWNS). 
States then distribute the funds to water and wastewater systems for high priority projects that achieve 
the health protection objectives of the Safe Drinking Water Act and water quality objectives of the Clean 
Water Act. 

  



 

Physical Address: 29300 Valley Center Road; Valley Center, CA 92082  •  Mailing Address: P.O. Box 67; Valley Center, CA 92082 
Phone: (760) 735-4500   •   Website: www.vcmwd.org   •   Email: vcwater@valleycenterwater.org 

The San Diego region has benefitted greatly from the ability to access WIFIA funding.  The WIFIA program 
complements SRF funding by providing credit assistance for larger, more capital-intensive projects to 
creditworthy agencies. WIFIA offers low-cost, long-term loans that can be combined with other sources 
of funding to help accelerate water infrastructure investments. The competitive program covers the credit 
subsidy for loans to water utilities, which generally have a strong credit rating and a low risk of default. 
Every dollar appropriated to WIFIA by the federal government supports up to $100 in infrastructure 
investment. WIFIA loans are then repaid to the U.S. Treasury, ensuring that the total cost to the federal 
government is minimal. 

The EPA’s latest DWINSA and CWNS estimate that drinking water and wastewater utilities will need to 
invest nearly $1.3 trillion over the next 20 years to repair, replace, and expand the nation’s critical and 
aging water and wastewater infrastructure. These federal funding programs play a critical and integral 
role in ensuring utilities meet that need while managing rising costs, increased regulatory compliance and 
growing affordability concerns.  

As you consider funding priorities for Fiscal Year 2026, Valley Center MWD respectfully requests you 
ensure both the DWSRF and CWSRF programs are funded at the $3.25 billion maximum amount 
authorized and WIFIA funded at the Fiscal Year 2025 amount of $72 million, so that water and wastewater 
utilities, such as Valley Center MWD have access to critical funding tools for our infrastructure needs.  

If you would like to discuss our concerns and position, please contact me at (760) 735-4515 or 
garant@vcmwd.org. 

Sincerely,  

 

 

Gary Arant 
General Manager 
 

 

cc: Nate Norris, AWWA Director of Legislative Affairs 
 Ian Lyle, ACWA Director of Federal Relations 
 
 

 

 

 


	AGENDA - July 21, 2025 Board Meeting

	1. Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting Held Monday, July 7, 2025
	2. Audit Demands and Wire Disbursements
	3. Quarterly Expense Reimbursement Disclosures (April 1 – June 30, 2025) per GovernmentCode Section 53065
	4. Request to Set the FY 2025-26 Fixed Charge Special Assessments for Unpaid 
Charges for Water and Other Services
	5. Project Update and Request to Approve of Change Order No. 5 to the Construction Contract 
with Orion Construction Corporation for the North County Emergency Storage Project –Valley Center Improvements & 14-inch Replacement and Relocation (NCESP–VC)
	6. Request to Award Sole Source Reservoir Coating for Reidy Canyon No. 1 Exterior and W. 
Bear Ridge Roof Project
	7. Status Update on the Woods Valley Ranch Water Reclamation Facility Wastewater 
Capacity Transfer Agreement:
	8. Update to Long-
Range Financial Strategy 
	9. General Information - 
Legislative Board Report_July 



